OCTOBER 2024



TÜRKIYE AND THE WORLD INITIATIVE

Transatlantic Policies on China: Is There a Role for Türkiye?

Sinan Ülgen and Temur Umarov

Transatlantic Policies on China: Is There a Role for Türkiye?

Sinan Ülgen and Temur Umarov

© 2024 Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. All rights reserved.

Carnegie does not take institutional positions on public policy issues; the views represented herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of Carnegie, its staff, or its trustees.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Please direct inquiries to:

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Publications Department 1779 Massachusetts Avenue NW Washington, DC 20036 P: + 1 202 483 7600 F: + 1 202 483 1840 CarnegieEndowment.org

This publication can be downloaded at no cost at CarnegieEndowment.org.

Contents

ntroduction	1
The Evolution of Türkiye's Outlook on China	2
Economic and Geopolitical Influence in Africa	3
Rising Competition in Central Asia	6
Onboarding Türkiye on Transatlantic China Policies	9
Conclusion	11
About the Authors	13
Notes	15
Carnegie Endowment for International Peace	19

Introduction

Tense competition between the West and China in recent years has brought U.S. and EU policies toward Beijing into closer alignment. Although policymakers on both sides of the Atlantic acknowledge that there are areas in which they need to cooperate with China, such as on global health and climate change, their focus remains on managing competition responsibly by leveraging economic dependencies and de-risking their economies. This China-centered paradigm and geopolitical rivalry creates both challenges and possibilities for middle powers such as Türkiye seeking to derive strategic gains.

As a North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) member and EU-candidate country, Türkiye is an important transatlantic actor in Sino-Western competition. It can add value to Western efforts aimed at synchronizing policies toward a rising China. And yet, at present, Ankara's policies on China are not harmonized with those of its partners in the West.

This paper examines Türkiye's complex relationship with China, specifically outlining how this relationship manifests in Central Asia and Africa. It then draws conclusions about Türkiye's potential contributions to transatlantic policies toward China and makes the following recommendations for U.S. and EU policymakers:

- Revitalize Türkiye's economic integration with the West;
- Revise the Western approach to Central Asian connectivity; and
- Position Türkiye as a major partner in Western infrastructure development initiatives.

The Evolution of Türkiye's Outlook on China

In political, economic, and security domains, Türkiye has been embedded in the Western institutional order and traditionally aligned itself with Western nations. However, as a more multipolar global order has emerged and Türkiye's domestic political ideology has emphasized the country's need for increased strategic autonomy, Turkish policymakers have reconceptualized the main tenets of the country's international relations. Türkiye's strategic engagement with China is a prime example of this transformation. It represents the country's difficult balancing act between Western powers, such as the EU and the United States, and non-Western powers, such as China and Russia. It is also a function of the pragmatic and transactional approach that is at the heart of Ankara's current foreign policy thinking.

Türkiye's bilateral relations with China were elevated to the level of "strategic cooperation" in 2010. Its careful cultivation of this relationship since then illustrates its commitment to maintaining strategic flexibility, thereby enhancing its role as a pivotal player in the evolving global order. China's rise as an economic superpower and its role in regional initiatives like BRICS and the Shanghai Cooperation Organization (SCO) are additional factors that motivate Turkish policymakers. There is a strong expectation in Ankara that engagement with China will provide Türkiye with advantages and resources to accelerate its economic development.

In Ankara's eyes, Beijing could provide increased financial commitments to the Turkish economy. Bilateral trade figures between the two countries are currently grossly in China's favor: Türkiye imports \$45 billion worth of Chinese goods and exports a mere \$3.3 billion to China.² The resulting trade gap of \$41.7 billion is Türkiye's largest bilateral deficit. Turkish policymakers also believe there is room for improvement in foreign direct investment (FDI) from China. Türkiye signed a Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) agreement with China in 2015, yet it ranks twenty-third out of eighty countries receiving Chinese investment. As of 2020, Türkiye had only received 1.31 percent of all investments made through the BRI.3 The Chinese stock of FDI in Türkiye reached \$9 billion by end 2023, which is substantially low in relation to Western-origin FDI. Similarly, the number of companies with Chinese capital established in Türkiye since 2002 stands at 1,197, amounting to just 0.6 percent of all international companies in the country. Notably, Chinese FDI is higher in countries such as Malaysia, Pakistan, Israel, and Nigeria.⁵ Derya Göçer and Ceren Ergenç contend that the perceived erosion in rule of law standards and unpredictable policies in Türkiye has been a critical factor for lagging Chinese investments.⁶

Ankara is also interested in advancing mutually beneficial cooperative schemes with Beijing. A case in point is the Middle Corridor land route, which links Türkiye to China through Central Asia, crossing Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan, and Georgia. After Russia's full-scale invasion of Ukraine in 2022, which made the Northern Corridor trading route connecting China and Europe via Russia less attractive, Türkiye saw a window of opportunity for the Middle Corridor. Even though the transport time is roughly the same as maritime routes

and not advantageous in that sense compared to the Northern Corridor, the World Bank projects trade volumes to triple by 2030 should better use be made of the Middle Corridor. This projection is based on the assumption that operational deficiencies at ports and choke points at border crossings can be overcome through the right investments. The World Bank also anticipates that the Middle Corridor will intensify regional trade and should have a similarly positive impact on trade between Türkiye and China. ⁷

Yet, despite so much potential and ample room for improvement on the economic front, there are other obstacles to any sustained and deep convergence between Türkiye and China. First, and most importantly, the treatment of ethnic minorities in China is a source of great dissonance. Türkiye is home to the world's largest Uyghur diaspora, who are ethnically related to the Turks. The issue reached a tipping point in 2009 after Turkish President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan called China's treatment of Uyghurs "almost a genocide," and it remains a point of serious tension.8

Second, Ankara and Beijing are locked in an increasingly palpable geopolitical competition in places such as Africa and Central Asia. This is a real counterforce to the gravitation between Türkiye and China. Therefore, examining their unspoken rivalry in such geographies is a good starting point to better understand this complex relationship's true dynamics.

Economic and Geopolitical Influence in Africa

Africa has significant economic growth potential, driven by its natural resources and increasing urbanization.9 Both China and Türkiye view the continent as a key market for their goods and services and a source of critical natural resources. Consequently, they have both emerged as major actors in Africa, pursuing their own economic and strategic interests that occasionally collide.

Increased Engagement in Africa

China's engagement in Africa significantly increased after 2000, fueled by a wave of large infrastructure investments, as illustrated by the proliferation of BRI projects across Africa and Beijing's lead role in facilitating connectivity projects across the continent. 10 Over the past twenty years, China has become sub-Saharan Africa's largest bilateral trading partner.¹¹ According to the International Monetary Fund, around 20 percent of the region's exports now go to China and about 16 percent of its imports come from China.¹² The volume of trade surpassed the threshold of \$280 billion in 2023. In recent years, China has also become the top investor in Africa, focusing particularly on infrastructure projects such as railways, roads, and ports. These investments have several motives, including accessing the continent's resources, expanding the market, gaining strategic influence, providing economic aid, and boosting the BRI.

Türkiye's engagement with Africa also increased after the 2000s, as it sought to diversify its foreign policy and find new markets for its booming manufacturing capacity. Türkiye declared 2005 as "The Year of Africa" and followed this with other politically symbolic steps, such as launching the Turkish-African summit in 2008, similar to China's Forum on China-Africa Cooperation (FOCAC), thereby institutionalizing its engagement with the continent at the highest level.¹³ In parallel, Ankara's diplomatic footprint in Africa expanded considerably. There are now forty-four Turkish embassies in Africa, compared to twelve in 2002. Ankara also launched cultural programs, business councils, and an extensive connectivity network across the continent, with government-linked Turkish Airlines now flying to more than sixty African destinations.¹⁴ In the meantime, Türkiye's investments in Africa diversified and now span sectors ranging from construction to energy and agriculture.¹⁵

Strategic Goals and Intentions

Türkiye and China both pursue multifaceted approaches in Africa aimed at building goodwill and strengthening diplomatic ties. They similarly attribute a significant role to soft power in their strategic engagement, presenting themselves as attractive alternatives to traditional Western donors. 16 Both try to distinguish themselves from the West by rejecting conditions-based cooperation models that African leaders complain are intrusive or paternalistic. As a corollary to this narrative, they both highlight differences in their historical legacies with the continent from those of Western colonial powers.¹⁷

There are also fundamental differences in the two countries' approaches toward Africa, including in the weight they place on achieving political as opposed to economic objectives. Compared to Türkiye, China's engagement with African countries is more driven by political neo-mercantilism.¹⁸ Although China's approach is often presented under the banner of noninterference in countries' internal affairs, 19 there are strong concerns about the true intentions behind its large-scale investment programs.

In the past two decades, China has been the largest lender in Africa, granting forty-nine African nations and regional organizations loans exceeding \$170 billion.²⁰ At the same time, China's financing model for infrastructure investments has resulted in substantial debt burdens for many African countries, leading to economic instability.²¹ This massive influx of Chinese capital has generated questions over whether China may be pursuing a so-called debt-trap policy, wherein countries become so indebted that they are forced to cede control over key assets and make policy concessions to Beijing. This has sparked widespread concerns about the long-term implications of these financial arrangements and the political leverage China accrues from them.

The primacy of political considerations is also visible in Beijing's promotion of its enterprises. It aims to secure access to Africa's raw materials and natural resources that are integral to the continued growth of China's manufacturing industries. Chinese companies have heavily invested in African mining operations, oil fields, and agricultural projects, ensuring a steady

flow of raw materials. This supply chain integration allows China to maintain competitive manufacturing costs and support its extensive infrastructure development projects both domestically and internationally under the BRI.²²

In contrast to China, Türkiye's economic engagement with African countries is driven by a mix of motivations. Türkiye's and China's competitive advantages and differences in how state-capital relations are structured come into play. Türkiye has very limited fiscal capacity to leverage. As a result, its engagement is driven more by development aid programs that are framed as partnerships of mutual benefit, rather than as instruments to exert influence or control.²³ This aligns well with the aspirations of many African leaders who prefer development assistance that supports their national agendas without external interference.

Second, unlike China's, Türkiye's economic engagement is driven by market fundamentals. This is a function of the disparities in the two countries' political economies. China's state capitalism model informs a different engagement strategy where economic objectives can take second place to broader political aims. In Türkiye, this type of dirigisme is much less prevalent. Turkish enterprises in Africa are essentially profit-seeking entities that may rely on the support of the Turkish political leadership to earn more favorable treatment in the African market, but, in general, their motivation remains driven by market fundamentals and opportunities.²⁴

Türkiye's economic footprint in Africa is visible, particularly in the extractive industries and the construction sector. Turkish enterprises are involved in resource extraction and energy projects in several African countries, where they have invested in oil exploration and renewable energy initiatives.²⁵ Over the years, Turkish companies have also successfully leveraged their competitive advantage in large-scale infrastructure projects by expanding their regional footprint. By 2023, the portfolio of construction projects entrusted to Turkish companies in Africa had reached \$85 billion.²⁶ The size of this portfolio placed Türkiye second after China in Africa's infrastructure development. Some notable examples include the Addis Ababa-Djibouti railway in Ethiopia,²⁷ Africa's largest financial center development project in Kinshasa, the fast train project that will link Tanzania, Uganda, Rwanda, and the Democratic Republic of the Congo, renewable energy projects in Senegal and Mali, seaports in Somalia, and airport construction and operation in Libya, Senegal, and Sudan.

Türkiye's economic and political involvement in Africa has incidentally helped bolster the country's economy. By fostering strong trade and diplomatic relations, Türkiye has successfully encouraged business communities in several African nations, such as Somalia, to import goods like textile products and pharmaceuticals from Türkiye.²⁸ This has not only strengthened bilateral ties but also facilitated mutually beneficial economic partnerships. These engagements have generated positive economic outcomes for Türkiye, enhancing its export markets and supporting domestic industries, while simultaneously contributing to the development and diversification of African economies.

Another key factor that has played a significant role in shaping Ankara's approach to Africa has been its growing security and defense footprint. Türkiye's diplomatic engagement has been traditionally more focused on Northern Africa. This focus started to widen with the country playing a vital role in Somalia by delivering aid during a devastating famine in 2011. This humanitarian engagement was complemented by a security and defense partnership with Somalia, which in 2017 saw the establishment of Türkiye's largest overseas military training facility, Camp TURKSOM in Mogadishu. Türkiye has concluded security agreements with thirty African countries including Algeria, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Djibouti, Gabon, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Libya, Madagascar, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Nigeria, Rwanda, Senegal, Somalia, Sudan, Tanzania, and Tunisia.²⁹ These military framework agreements cover training, technical collaboration, and scientific cooperation. They may also include provisions around arms sales. Indeed, over the past decade, Türkiye has become a more visible supplier of defense products to African nations and, as such, has emerged as an alternative supplier to China.³⁰ This is particularly true for some key platforms, such as armed drones, where the Turkish supply has generated considerable interest.³¹ In the ongoing competition against Chinese military platforms in Africa, Turkish drone exports benefit from Türkiye being a NATO nation and, therefore, its defense industry production being in compliance with NATO standards. But compared to other NATO nations like the United States and the United Kingdom, Türkiye has adopted a less onerous framework for greenlighting drone exports. As a result, "a mutually reinforcing policy design of arms exports, military training, and defense diplomacy allows the Turkish administration to build long-term and institutional bonds with African countries," according to the Centre for Applied Turkish Studies' fellow Nebahat Tanrıverdi Yaşar.³²

Rising Competition in Central Asia

Traditionally, Central Asia—namely Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan—has been perceived³³ as a region where the only external powers to hold significant influence are Russia and China. Unlike Russia, which inherited its influence in the region following the collapse of the Soviet Union, other countries—including China and Türkiye—had to reestablish their presence after a century without any direct ties with Central Asia.

In the early 1990s, both Beijing and Ankara sought to expand their influence in Central Asia, albeit for different reasons. For China, the primary concern was national security.³⁴ Central Asia borders the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, which Beijing perceives as a potential source of instability. China sought to institutionalize its presence in Central Asia not only through bilateral engagements but also via multilateral frameworks. In 1996, China collaborated with Russia to establish the Shanghai Five organization, which initially aimed to delineate new borders between China and the former Soviet states.³⁵ This organization later evolved into the SCO.

Like Beijing, Ankara also sought to capitalize on the collapse of the Soviet Union and expand its influence in Central Asia. When the five Central Asian nations emerged as independent entities three decades ago, Türkiye was among the first to establish official diplomatic relations with the region's Turkic-speaking nations.³⁶ In the 1990s, Central Asian leaders viewed Ankara as a potential partner for counterbalancing against Russia. Their strategic alignment was driven by the desire to diversify their foreign relations and reduce overreliance on Moscow. Türkiye's shared cultural and linguistic ties with the Turkicspeaking nations of Central Asia further facilitated this partnership, fostering a sense of brotherhood and mutual support.

Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan were the most enthusiastic about strengthening ties with Türkiye. Uzbekistan's then president Islam Karimov declared, "My country will follow the Turkish path, and we will not deviate from it."37 Both Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan initiated language reforms, adopting a Latin alphabet similar to the Turkish version.³⁸ In contrast, Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan continued to rely more heavily on Russia than on their neighbors. Tajikistan, as the only non-Turkic country in Central Asia, also did not engage as closely with Ankara.³⁹ Nevertheless, Türkiye did not entirely overlook Dushanbe, maintaining a degree of diplomatic, economic, and cultural interaction. 40

However, Central Asia's initially warm relationship with Türkiye began to deteriorate in the 2000s. Türkiye had envisioned itself as the leader of the Turkic world, 41 ambitiously proclaiming a sphere of influence "from the Adriatic Sea to the Great Wall of China." Central Asian leaders grew suspicious and were irritated by what they perceived as Ankara's patronizing approach. They also reacted negatively to the pan-Turkic and Sufi-Islamist ideology propagated by the Gülen schools. Tashkent was the first to shut down the schools, even sentencing some of the graduates and administrators.⁴²

Türkiye's Comeback

Türkiye's approach in the last years is markedly different to that of the 1990s. During meetings with Central Asian leaders, Erdoğan now emphasizes themes of brotherhood and mutual respect. Ankara presents itself as an attractive and trusted ally. The geopolitical landscape around Eurasia has also shifted significantly. Russia's full-scale invasion of Ukraine has undoubtedly motivated Central Asian states to diversify their ties beyond Russia and China. 43

Ankara's ambitions in Central Asia are not just symbolic: Türkiye has a tangible presence in the economic, political, security, and cultural spheres. This multifaceted engagement underscores Türkiye's commitment to strengthening its influence and fostering deeper connections with the Central Asian nations.

Türkiye ranks among the top four trade partners of all Central Asian states. As of 2023, Ankara's trade volume with the region's countries reached nearly \$13 billion, a tenfold increase from a decade ago. 44 Additionally, Türkiye is among the top ten investors in Central Asian economies, with a collective investment portfolio of around \$10 billion. More than 4,000 Turkish companies operate in the region, making Türkiye one of the most prominent foreign business presences, third after Russia and China. 45

Türkiye also has a significant presence in the sensitive sphere of regional security, a trend that was previously not visible. Türkiye is the largest exporter of arms to Turkmenistan, the second largest to Kyrgyzstan, the sixth largest to Uzbekistan, and among the top ten arms exporters to Kazakhstan, according to the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute.46 Recently, Türkiye has exported military drones to Kyrgyzstan, which deployed them on the battlefield during its latest clash with Tajikistan.⁴⁷ Moreover, during Erdoğan's state visit to Kazakhstan in 2022, the two countries signed a protocol on cooperation in military intelligence.⁴⁸

Connectivity represents another significant area of opportunity for Türkiye. All Central Asian countries are landlocked, surrounded by economically and politically isolated nations such as Iran and Afghanistan. Without direct access to international ports and markets, these countries rely heavily on trade routes over land. Western sanctions on Russia have exacerbated the logistical challenges in the region, despite infrastructure investments by China since 1991. The region remains dependent on Soviet-era trade routes. 49 The 40 percent drop in China-EU shipments through the Northern Corridor and rising global freight costs have renewed interest in enhancing connectivity via the Middle Corridor. This route, bolstered by projects like the Trans-Kazakhstan Railroad and Baku-Tbilisi-Kars Railway, is becoming a viable alternative.⁵⁰ Türkiye is actively leading initiatives to address the current logistical problems of the Middle Corridor and create an integrated rail and shipping network.⁵¹

Türkiye's regional resurgence is symbolically marked by the transformation of the Turkic Council into the Organization of Turkic States (OTS), which is emerging as a significant platform for Türkiye's growing influence in the region.⁵² This rebranding was accompanied by the group's evolution from a loose partnership to a full-fledged organization. OTS has become a key platform for economic and cross-sectoral cooperation for Turkic states. It brings together heads of state, ministers, and private sector leaders to foster collaboration in areas such as transport, energy, and trade through various mechanisms, including the Turkic Business Council and the Turkic Chamber of Commerce and Industry. These mechanisms facilitate joint projects and cooperation between Central Asian countries and Türkiye, making OTS a vital mechanism for economic collaboration in the region. During the tenth OTS summit in Kazakhstan, the member states signed the "Turkic World Vision 2040," which outlines the organization's priorities. According to that document, the member states will enhance their cooperation in various areas, including politics, transport, customs, and energy.⁵³

A key aspect of Türkiye's soft power is education, including scholarships, exchange programs, and the establishment of universities like Manas University in Kyrgyzstan and Ahmet Yesevi University in Kazakhstan. These efforts aim to strengthen long-term ties and educate future political elites.⁵⁴ Additionally, the Yunus Emre Institute and the Turkish Maarif Foundation play important roles in Türkiye's current policies toward Central Asia.⁵⁵ Ankara's soft power initiatives in the region seem to have positively contributed to Türkiye's overall perception. According to the Central Asia Barometer's 2023 report, Türkiye is the best-regarded foreign country in Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan and the second best-regarded (after Russia) in Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan.⁵⁶ Conversely, Russia's reputation has steadily declined since the onset of its war against Ukraine. Its approval rating in Kazakhstan fell from 55 percent in 2021 to 29 percent in 2022, marking a historic low.⁵⁷

While Türkiye's influence in Central Asia remains limited compared with Russia and China, Ankara holds a strategic advantage for the future. Türkiye can leverage its historical ties to advance its heritage diplomacy without confining Central Asia to its imperial near abroad or inciting fears of a loss of sovereignty across the border.

Onboarding Türkiye on Transatlantic China Policies

In the current geopolitical context, Turkish policymakers are more interested in deepening the country's relations with China than being part of the Western-led policy of de-risking or even de-coupling from Beijing. Erdoğan's continued interest in Türkiye's potential membership in BRICS and the SCO is a testimony to this proclivity. This outlook is motivated by the perception that Türkiye can profit economically and possibly politically from a more comprehensive associational arrangement with China when the opportunities for constructive engagement with the West have stalled. This is partly due to the overriding difficulties in Türkiye's relationship with the West because of its departures from adopted norms on democracy, human rights, and the rule of law. But it is also due to policy failures in the Western capitals that have tended to create obstacles to a realistic path of engagement with Ankara in spite of this democratic backsliding.

Yet onboarding Türkiye on a transatlantic China policy remains important as Ankara could provide significant contributions to the West's rebalancing away from China, especially in Africa and Central Asia, where transatlantic partners' engagement is vulnerable because of historical grievances or cultural cleavages. Also, with its industrial know-how and reserves of certain critical raw materials,⁵⁸ Türkiye could enhance Western economies' resilience as they attempt to de-link or de-risk from China.

In reality, Türkiye's stance on China will only change if the prospects and incentives associated with closer alignment with the West are altered. Viewed from that perspective, the following policy recommendations can inform transatlantic leaders as they attempt to onboard Türkiye.

Revitalize Türkiye's Economic Integration with the West

Turkish Foreign Minister Hakan Fidan has stated that a key justification for Ankara's desire to join BRICS is its stalled bid to modernize its existing trade arrangement with the EU.⁵⁹ Türkiye and the EU have a customs union that dates back to 1995. The agreement is thirty years old and in dire need of an overhaul. Despite the high priority attached to this objective by Ankara, European governments have been unable—since 2016 when the European Commission tabled its request for a mandate for negotiations—to greenlight this initiative on account of political considerations. This lack of progress has provoked a real sense of alienation in Ankara, especially since the EU has started to make political openings to new enlargement countries with a view to accelerate their membership dynamics. Turkish policymakers see the EU's position as a sign of insincerity and strategic myopia since it amounts to blocking every meaningful channel of potential cooperation with Ankara, with the exception of the March 2016 refugees deal.

To reshape Türkiye's political and economic calculus with China, the EU should review its long-standing opposition to starting negotiations on the modernization of the EU-Türkiye Customs Union. In its absence, the West will lack the credibility to nudge Ankara to deepen economic integration with the transatlantic community.

Revise the Western Approach to Central Asian Connectivity

Transatlantic partners are currently on a collision course with Türkiye on the issue of connectivity in Central Asia. In contrast to the Middle Corridor project championed by Türkiye, which aims to improve connectivity between Central Asian countries, Türkiye, and China, the EU and the United States have officially backed a logistical route linking India to Europe and bypassing Türkiye. 60 This exclusionary approach undermines efforts to bring Türkiye into closer alignment with the transatlantic China policy. Western partners may view the project championed by Ankara as an enabler for China's trade ties and economic footprint.⁶¹ But, in reality, the project can equally serve to lower Central Asian countries' trade dependence on China given their increased connectivity with Western markets through Türkiye. In other words, Türkiye's push for the Middle Corridor and a closer integration with the OTS could lead to regional stabilization and closer integration of Central Asian and South Caucasian states. This could in turn supplant Russia's fading influence and balance China's rising influence in the region. This dynamic is critical in Sino-Western economic competition.

At the very least, Türkiye and the transatlantic partners should avoid the spectacle of zealously championing competing projects for the region's future connectivity. This shortcoming speaks to the lack of a proper and mature bilateral format of comprehensive deliberations between Türkiye and its main diplomatic partners in the West on the future of relations with China. 62 This objective has been hindered by the total collapse of Türkiye-EU foreign policy alignment as a sign of increased mutual frustrations.

Position Türkiye as a Major Partner in Western Infrastructure **Development Initiatives**

Another valuable incentive for enhancing Ankara's stronger alignment with the transatlantic China policy is Türkiye's stronger embedding in the multilateral infrastructure programs launched by the transatlantic partners. The EU's Global Gateway program aims to boost smart, clean, and secure connections in the digital, energy, and transport sectors and strengthen health, education, and research systems worldwide. 63 The program, which is to benefit from 300 billion euros mobilized over the 2021-2027 period, can be seen as an innovative global infrastructure development program. Across the Atlantic, the Partnership for Global Infrastructure and Investment (PGII) represents the US-led flagship multilateral infrastructure initiative. PGII aims to address the demand for high-quality infrastructure financing in low- and middle-income countries. More effective and inclusive partnership mechanics open to Türkiye's involvement would create the right conditions for significantly improved levels of participation by Turkish economic actors. They could support global efforts to mobilize investments in infrastructure-related public works where Turkish companies have a competitive advantage and strong track record, which would, in turn, enhance regional economic development.

Conclusion

For these recommendations to have policy implications—and for any strategy that intends to align Türkiye more closely with a transatlantic strategy on China—there needs to be political will in Washington and in European capitals to achieve this goal. Likewise, Türkiye's political leaders should also be willing to reappraise their current policy of balancing between Türkiye's traditional partners in the West and the non-Western powers like China and Russia.

It will undoubtedly be difficult to establish a common understanding as long as Ankara keeps pushing for and lauding the benefits of Türkiye's participation in regional cooperation initiatives influenced by Russia and China's political ambitions, such as the SCO and BRICS. The pretense that there would be no political cost attached to Türkiye's membership in these organizations in terms of its overall relationships with EU countries and the United States is just that—a pretense. In reality, this outreach greatly complicates Türkiye's perception as a solidary member of the transatlantic alliance. And, by the same token, it generates the underpinnings of today's volatile equilibrium in terms of Ankara's relations with the West.

With sustained hesitancy about Ankara's true proclivities, Western capitals are less eager to allocate political capital to develop a more inclusive policy toward Türkiye. The more this lack of appetite becomes visible, the more Ankara feels reassured that its openings toward China and Russia are justified. Viewed under this lens, the geopolitical imperative of designing an architecture of convergence with Türkiye on China can possibly create the needed momentum and mutual political will to break this volatile equilibrium.

About the Authors

Sinan Ülgen is a senior fellow at Carnegie Europe in Brussels, where his research focuses on Turkish foreign policy, transatlantic relations, and international trade policy.

Temur Umarov is a fellow at the Carnegie Russia Eurasia Center. His research is focused on Central Asian countries' domestic and foreign policies, as well as China's relations with Russia and Central Asian neighbors.

Notes

- 1 "Relations Between Türkiye and People's Republic of China," Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2022, https://www.mfa.gov.tr/relations-between-turkiye-and-china.en.mfa.
- 2 https://www.ekonomim.com/kuresel-ekonomi/turkiyenin-rekabetci-oldugu-cindeki-ithalat-416-milyar-dolar-haberi-748127
- 3 Burak Gürel and Mina Kozluca, "Chinese Investment in Türkiye: The Belt and Road Initiative, Rising Expectations and Ground Realities" (Cambridge University Press, January 28, 2022): https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/european-review/article/chinese-investment-in-Türkiye-the-belt-and-road-initiative-rising-expectations-and-ground-realities/4B8809A80379953E4122CF3D3B5B6D47.
- 4 To compare, the United States has 15,021 companies in Türkiye, corresponding to a share of 8 percent. The data is from the FDI statistics compiled by the Turkish Ministry of Industry and Technology, https://www.sanayi.gov.tr/istatistikler/yatirim-istatistikleri/mi0803011615.
- 5 Ahmet Cagri Soylu, "Türkiye-Çin İlişkilerinde Ekonomik İş Birlikleri ve Yatırımlar," TUDPAM, May 10, 2024, https://tudpam.org/turkiye-cin-iliskilerinde-ekonomik-is-birlikleri-ve-yatirimlar.
- 6 Derya Göçer and Ceren Ergenç, "China's Response to Türkiye's Volatile Authoritarianism," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, May 5, 2023, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2023/05/chinas-response-to-turkiyes-volatile-authoritarianism?lang=en.
- 7 World Bank, "Middle Trade and Transport Corridor," November 2023, https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/6248f697aed4be0f770d319dcaa4ca52-0080062023/original/Middle-Trade-and-Transport-Corridor-World-Bank-FINAL.pdf.
- 8 Yalkun Uluyol, "Partnership with Limits: China-Türkiye Relations in the Late AKP Era," Heinrich Böll Stiftung, March 2024, https://tr.boell.org/en/2024/03/20/partnership-limits-china-turkey-relations-late-akp-era.
- 9 See for instance: African Development Bank, "Africa Dominates List of World's 20 Fastest Growing Economies in 2024," February 16, 2024, <a href="https://www.afdb.org/en/news-and-events/press-releases/africa-dominates-list-worlds-20-fastest-growing-economies-2024-african-development-bank-says-mac-roeconomic-report-68751. Also see: McKinsey Global Institute, "Reimagining Economic Growth in

- Africa: Turning Diversity into Opportunity," June 5, 2023, https://www.mckinsey.com/mgi/our-research/ reimagining-economic-growth-in-africa-turning-diversity-into-opportunity.
- Samuel Ramani, "Russia and China in Africa: Prospective Partners or Asymmetric Rivals?," South African Institute of International Affairs, December 2021, https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/resrep38659.pdf.
- World Economic Forum, "Why Strong Regional Value Chains Will be Vital to the Next Chapter of China and Africa's Economic Relationship," June 25, 2024, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2024/06/whystrong-regional-value-chains-will-be-vital-to-the-next-chapter-of-china-and-africas-economic-relationship.
- Wenjie Chen, Michele Fornino, and Henry Rawlings, "Navigating the Evolving Landscape Between China and Africa's Economic Engagements," IMF Working Paper WP/24/37, February 2024, https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/Issues/2024/02/23/ Navigating-the-Evolving-Landscape-between-China-and-Africas-Economic-Engagements-545104.
- Yunnan Chen, "Laying the Tracks The Political Economy of Railway Development in Ethiopia's Railway Sector and Implications for Technology Transfer," Boston University Global Development Policy Center, January 2021, https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2021/01/GCI WP 014 Yunnan Chen.pdf.
- Teresa Nogueira Pinto, "Türkiye's Push for Influence in Africa Is Working," Geopolitical Intelligence Services Reports, April 9, 2024, https://www.gisreportsonline.com/r/turkey-influence-africa.
- Emel Parlar Dal and Samiratou Dipama, "Assessing Türkiye-Africa Engagements," Africa Policy Research Institute, September 9, 2023, https://afripoli.org/assessing-Türkiye-africa-engagements.
- 16 Abdurrahim Siradag, "The Rise of Türkiye's Soft Power in Africa: Reasons, Dynamics, and Constraints," Dergi Park, July 18, 2022, https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/download/article-file/2432818.
- Çağdaş Üngör, "Türkiye Between Two Worlds: Geopolitics of China's Rise and the Western Response," Heinrich Böll Stiftung, February 29, 2024, https://tr.boell.org/en/2024/02/29/ Türkiye-between-two-worlds-geopolitics-chinas-rise-and-western-response.
- 18 George B. N. Attiney, "Chinese Investments in Africa: Chopsticks Mercantilism," in "China in Africa: Between Imperialism and Partnership in Humanitarian Development," edited by Sabella O. Abidde and Tokunbo A. Ayoola, Rowman & Littlefield, 2021.
- Mamoudou Gazibo and Abdou Rahim Lema, "What to Make of China's Non-Interference Policy in Africa," London School of Economics and Political Science, May 11, 2023, https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/ africaatlse/2023/05/11/what-to-make-of-chinas-non-interference-policy-in-africa/.
- Jana de Kluiver, "Navigating the Complex Terrain of China-Africa Debt Relations: ISS Africa," Institute for Security Studies Africa, November 2, 2023, https://issafrica.org/iss-today/ navigating-the-complex-terrain-of-china-africa-debt-relations.
- Bernard Condon, "China's Loans Pushing World's Poorest Countries to Brink of Collapse," AP News, May 18, 2023, https://apnews.com/article/china-debt-banking-loans-financialdeveloping-countries-collapse-8df6f9fac3e1e758d0e6d8d5dfbd3ed6.
- 22 Marcus Vinicius de Freitas, "The Impact of Chinese Investments in Africa: Neocolonialism or Cooperation?," Policy Center for the New South, August 2, 2023, https://www.policycenter.ma/ publications/impact-chinese-investments-africa-neocolonialism-or-cooperation.
- Hürcan Aslı Aksoy, Salim Çevik, and Nebahat Tanrıverdi Yaşar, "Visualizing Türkiye's Activism in Africa," Centre for Applied Türkiye Studies, June 3, 2022, https://www.cats-network.eu/topics/ visualizing-Türkiyes-activism-in-africa.
- Samiratou Dipama and Emel Parlar Dal, "Assessing Türkiye-Africa Engagements," Africa Policy Research Institute, April 27, 2023, https://afripoli.org/assessing-Türkiye-africa-engagements.
- Hamza Kyeyune, "Turkish Companies Wining African Infrastructure, Superstructure Projects," Anadolu Agency, January 13, 2024, https://www.aa.com.tr/en/africa/ turkish-companies-wining-african-infrastructure-superstructure-projects/3108216.
- "Africa, the New Favorite of Global Trade, Is Being Built by Turks" (Küresel ticaretin yeni gözdesi Afrika'yı Türkler inşa ediyor), economim, October 11, 2023, https://www.ekonomim.com/ekonomi/ kuresel-ticaretin-yeni-gozdesi-afrikayi-turkler-insa-ediyor-haberi-711262.

- Chen, "Laying the Tracks."
- Mohammed Dhaysane, "Turkiye's Engagement in Somalia Has Opened Avenues for Somali Businesses," Anadolu Agency, February 7, 2022, https://www.aa.com.tr/en/africa/ turkiyes-engagement-in-somalia-has-opened-avenues-for-somali-businesses/2496095.
- Nebahat Tanrıverdi Yaşar, "Unpacking Türkiye's Security Footprint in Africa: Trends and Implications for the EU," SWP Comment 2022/C 42, June 30, 2022, https://www.swp-berlin.org/10.18449/2022C42/.
- Noé Hochet-Bodin, "Africa, the New Playground for Drone Exporters," Le Monde, January 5, 2024, https://www.lemonde.fr/en/international/article/2024/01/05/africa-the-new-playground-for-drone-exporters 6405337 4.html.
- 31 "Türkiye's Bayraktar TB2 Drone: Why African States Are Buying Them," BBC, August 25, 2022, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-62485325.
- 32 Yaşar, "Unpacking Türkiye's Security Footprint in Africa."
- 33 Robert E. Hamilton, "China, Russia, and Power Transition in Central Asia," Foreign Policy Research Institute, May 31, 2024, https://www.fpri.org/article/2024/05/china-russia-and-power-transitionin-central-asia/.
- Niva Yau, "China's Security Management Towards Central Asia," Foreign Policy Research Institute, April 1, 2022, https://www.fpri.org/article/2022/04/chinas-security-management-towards-central-asia.
- 35 Alexander Gabuev, "Bigger, Not Better: Russia Makes the SCO a Useless Club," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, June 23, 2107, https://carnegieendowment.org/posts/2017/06/ bigger-not-better-russia-makes-the-sco-a-useless-club?lang=en¢er=russia-eurasia.
- Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Relations with Central Asian Countries," accessed August 4, 2024, https://www.mfa.gov.tr/turkiye_s-relations-with-central-asian-republics.ru.mfa.
- Inosmi.ru, "Türkiye Seeks 'Reset' with Uzbekistan," November 18, 2016, https://inosmi. ru/20161118/238236531.html.
- Victoria Clement, Learning to Become Turkmen: Literacy, Language, and Power, 1914-2014 (University of Pittsburgh Press: 2018).
- Bayram Balci, "What Future for the Fethullah Gülen Movement in Central Asia and the Caucasus?," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, July 2, 2014, https://carnegieendowment.org/posts/2014/07/ what-future-for-the-fethullah-gulen-movement-in-central-asia-and-the-caucasus?lang=en.
- Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Relations Between Türkiye and Tajikistan," accessed August 4, 2024, https://www.mfa.gov.tr/relations-between-turkiye-and-tajikistan.ru.mfa.
- 41 Hasan Yükselen, "The Turkic World; From the Adriatic Sea to the Great Wall of China," Strategy and Strategic Discourse in Turkish Foreign Policy, 2020, https://www.springerprofessional.de/ en/1980-2002-the-turkic-world-from-the-adriatic-sea-to-the-great-wa/17766244.
- 42 Bruce Pannier, "The Gulen Schools in Central Asia," Radio Free Europe, August 13, 2016, https://www. rferl.org/a/majlis-podcast-gulen-schools/27919459.html.
- Temur Umarov, "Kazakhstan Is Breaking Out of Russia's Grip," Foreign Policy, September 16, 2022, https:// foreignpolicy.com/2022/09/16/kazakhstan-russia-ukraine-war/?tpcc=recirc_latest062921.
- Trade figures obtained from TradeMap.org, https://www.trademap.org/Bilateral TS.aspx?nvpm=1%7c%7c2 3%7c792%7c%7cTOTAL%7c%7c%7c2%7c1%7c1%7c1%7c1%7c1%7c1%7c1%7c1%7c1.
- Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Relations with Central Asian countries."
- "SIPRI Arms Transfers Database," Stockholm International Peace Research Institute, accessed August 4, 2024, https://www.sipri.org/databases/armstransfers.
- According to Tajikistan's State Committee for National Security: https://khovar.ti/rus/2022/09/ press-tsentr-pogranichnyh-vojsk-gknb-respubliki-tadzhikistan-soobshhaet-14/.
- Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Kazakhstan, "On Approval of the Protocol Between the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan and the Government of the Republic of Türkiye on Cooperation in the Field of Military Intelligence," August 5, 2022, https://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/P2200000536.

- James Durso, "The Russia-Ukraine War Will Change Central Asia's Trade and Transit," Defense.info, June 3, 2022, https://defense.info/global-dynamics/2022/06/ the-russia-ukraine-war-will-change-central-asias-trade-and-transit.
- Tuba Eldem, "Russia's War on Ukraine and the Rise of the Middle Corridor as a Third Vector of Eurasian Connectivity," Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik (SWP), accessed August 3, 2024, https://www.swp-berlin.org/publikation/ russias-war-on-ukraine-and-the-rise-of-the-middle-corridor-as-a-third-vector-of-eurasian-connectivity.
- These initiatives include a meeting in Ankara of railway officials from Türkiye, Azerbaijan, Georgia, and Kazakhstan to approve an action plan to modernize the trade network, harmonize tariffs and trade policies, and increase cross-border efficiency. Also see: Arnold C. Dupuy, "There's an Alternative to Russian-Based Trade Routes—but It Needs Support from the US, EU, and Türkiye," Atlantic Council (blog), May 22, 2024, https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/Türkiyesource/ theres-an-alternative-to-russian-based-trade-routes-but-it-needs-support-from-the-us-eu-and-Türkiye/.
- Organization of Turkic States, accessed August 4, 2024, https://www.turkicstates.org/en/ turk-konseyi-hakkinda.
- Organization of Turkic States, "Turkic World Vision 2040," https://turkicstates.org/assets/pdf/haberler/ turkic-world-vision-2040-2396-97.pdf.
- Pınar Akçalı and Cennet Engin Demir, "Türkiye's Educational Policies in Central Asia and Caucasia: Perceptions of Policymakers and Experts," International Journal of Educational Development, January 2012, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0738059310001690?via%3Dihub.
- The engagement of the Maarif Foundation is also motivated by the objective of eliminating the educational footprint of the Gülenist schools.
- Central Asia Barometer, "Public Perception of Türkiye in Central Asia," June 23, 2023, https://ca-barometer.org/assets/files/froala/7c9df247afe316b054e56a538aa8810219ae584d.pdf.
- Zacc Ritter and Steve Crabtree, "Russia Suffers Global Rebuke After Invasion," Gallup, April 25, 2023, https://news.gallup.com/poll/474596/russia-suffers-global-rebuke-invasion.aspx.
- For instance, Türkiye sources 98 percent of the EU's supply of boron. See: Daniel Eriksson Pitt, Introduction to the Critical Raw Materials Act: Safeguarding Supply Chains and Sustainability in the EU," ChainTraced, February 28, 2024, https://www.chaintraced.com/posts/ introduction-to-the-critical-raw-materials-act-safeguarding-supply-chains-and-sustainability-in-the-eu.
- "Foreign Minister Hakan Fidan's interview for Habertürk" [Dışişleri Bakanı Hakan Fidan'dan Habertürk'e acıklamalar, Habertürk, June 24, 2024, https://www.haberturk.com/ disisleri-bakani-hakan-fidan-dan-haberturk-e-aciklamalar-3697539.
- Abdul Moiz Khan. "The India-Middle East-Europe Economic Corridor (IMEC): Too Little, Too Late?". Sada Commentary. December 12, 203. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. https://carnegieendowment.org/sada/2023/12/ the-india-middle-east-europe-economic-corridor-imec-too-little-too-late?lang=en.
- Genevieve Donnellon-May. "Beijing's interest in the Middle Corridor". The Interpreter. October 26, 2023. Lowy Institute. https://www.lowyinstitute.org/the-interpreter/beijing-s-interest-middle-corridor.
- At present, NATO provides the sole format for these type of deliberations. But discussions at the North Atlantic Council are not particularly designed to address this deficiency given their multilateral nature.
- European Commission, "Joint Communication to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee, the Committee of the Regions and the European Investment Bank," December 1, 2021, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52021JC0030&fro m=EN.

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace

In a complex, changing, and increasingly contested world, the Carnegie Endowment generates strategic ideas, supports diplomacy, and trains the next generation of international scholar-practitioners to help countries and institutions take on the most difficult global problems and advance peace. With a global network of more than 170 scholars across twenty countries, Carnegie is renowned for its independent analysis of major global problems and understanding of regional contexts.

Europe Program

The Europe Program in Washington explores the political and security developments within Europe, transatlantic relations, and Europe's global role. Working in coordination with Carnegie Europe in Brussels, the program brings together U.S. and European policymakers and experts on strategic issues facing Europe.

Türkiye and the World Initiative

This paper is part of a series of four publications in a project run by the Carnegie Endowment's Türkiye and the World Initiative, analyzing the forces at play in the Euro-Atlantic area since Russia's full-scale invasion of Ukraine on February 24, 2022. The project examines the European Union's geopolitical evolution, Türkiye's relations with Russia and China, and European and Turkish aspirations for strategic autonomy, and draws conclusions for the United States and the transatlantic partnership.

